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    “Paris has always fascinated me…. I could have marched at the head of my troops under the Arc de Triomphe; but I did not want, under any pretext, to inflict this humiliation on the French people after their defeat. I want no obstacle to this Franco-German entente, which will happen, I am sure.”

—ADOLF HITLER, PARIS, JUNE 28, 1940



German troops entered Paris in the early morning hours of June 14, 1940. There was no fighting, and no shots were exchanged. French general Maxime Weygand, the army’s commander in chief, had declared Paris an open city, and it was not defended. On June 10, the French government had fled first to Tours, then to Bordeaux, and the army withdrew shortly afterward. Unlike World War I, in which the French army defended the approaches to Paris successfully in 1914 and again in 1918, this time the army withdrew without a fight. The French leadership recognized that the war was lost, and chose not to defend the capital city. Paris, with a population of four million and incomparable art treasures and historic monuments, became German territory overnight. General Fedor von Bock, commanding German Army Group B, held a quick review of his troops at the Place de la Concorde early on the morning of June 14, and then had breakfast at the Ritz.
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General von Bock saluting his troops entering Paris, June 14, 1940



The beginnings of World War II, and the history of France preceding it, must be understood to appreciate the significance of the German occupation of Paris. After German forces invaded Poland on September 1, 1939, Britain and France, honoring their diplomatic obligations, declared war on Germany. That decision was not popular in France. There were no supportive demonstrations in Paris or other French cities when war came, no ringing declarations of the righteousness of the war or the evils of Hitler’s regime. France mobilized an army of 2.6 million men. But they took up defensive positions, half on the Maginot Line, the other half on the Belgian border, ready to meet another German Schlieffen Plan that would outflank the French army by moving through Belgium, as in 1914. Many Frenchmen doubted the wisdom of the government’s going to war. The French right admired Hitler and Nazi Germany. For them, the war was indefensible. The left, though they despised Nazi totalitarianism, did not want war with any country, because of a devotion to pacifism and a conviction, taught in public schools since 1919, that war was an evil to be avoided at all costs. France’s enormous losses in World War I contributed to that feeling.

    After the surprise signing of the Hitler-Stalin nonaggression pact on August 23, 1939, the Soviet Union joined Germany and invaded Poland on September 17, 1939. By September 29 that war was over. Germany and the Soviet Union divided Poland—the fourth time Poland had been dismembered—and Britain and France had done nothing to prevent it. Why the French did not attack Germany while the German army was deployed in Poland remains a mystery. As Field Marshal Wilhelm Keitel, the chief of the German high command, said later, “We soldiers had always expected an attack by France during the Polish campaign and were very much surprised when nothing happened…. A French attack would have encountered only a German military screen, not a real defense.”1

The decision of Stalin to join with Hitler complicated political alignments within France. The French Communist Party (PCF), under orders from Moscow, endorsed the partition of Poland and denounced France’s decision to join with Great Britain in an imperialist war against Germany. “The people of France have been assigned the mission of executing the orders of the bankers of London,” said the PCF in October.2

After the fall of Poland, France still did not attack Germany. Russia invaded Finland on November 30, but France was not involved. For the next five months the French and German armies faced each other without a shot being fired. The French called it drôle de guerre. The Germans called it Sitzkrieg. During that period French military morale suffered badly. It was largely a draftee army; pay was minimal, and with no fighting it seemed a waste of time. At the governmental level, Édouard Daladier, who had succeeded Léon Blum as prime minister in April 1938, resigned on March 20, 1940, and was succeeded by Paul Reynaud.

The situation changed abruptly on April 9, 1940, when Germany invaded Denmark and Norway. The Danish invasion took only four hours, and by noon on the 9th the Germans were in total control. No shots had been fired. In Norway, the exercise took longer, but the outcome was never in doubt. All of Norway’s ports as well as the capital of Oslo were captured by the Germans on the first day. The British fleet intervened briefly; a number of German vessels were sunk, and the port of Narvik was retaken. But resistance was marginalized, and Norway, like Denmark, became occupied.

    The taking of Denmark and Norway was a prelude to what was about to happen. In Paris, Prime Minister Reynaud was distraught that his military leadership had not been able to assist Norway, and he began to doubt the competence of General Maurice Gamelin, the commander in chief of the army who had succeeded Maxime Weygand in 1935. But before he could replace Gamelin, the Germans invaded. Rather than an attack on the Maginot Line, or the mounting of another Schlieffen Plan through Belgium, the principal attack came in the Ardennes, directly between the two French forces. In 1934, Marshal Pétain, the hero of Verdun, in testimony before the French chamber of deputies, had said, “The Ardennes are impregnable…. As the front will have no depth, the enemy will not be able to engage in action there. And if he does, he will be picked up as he emerges from the forests. So this sector is not dangerous.”3 The French had planned accordingly.

The Germans decided exactly the opposite. Rather than attack the French in their dug-in positions, they would crash through the Ardennes (Figure 1). In what was known as the Manstein Plan, for Erich von Manstein, the chief of staff to General Gerd von Rundstedt, the Germans concentrated on breaking through the Ardennes and dividing French forces in two. In the early morning hours of May 10, Rundstedt’s Army Group A, led by General Heinz Guderian’s XIX armored corps, moved through the forest and mountains of the Ardennes with lightning speed. They pressed on to the Meuse River, and by May 15 had taken Dinant and Sedan.I
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Figure 1: The Fall of France, May 1940



The Germans proved adept at tank warfare. When the invasion began on May 10, they had 2,580 tanks available. The French had 2,800, and most experts considered the French tanks superior. But the French tanks were distributed across the front into each division. All of the German tanks were concentrated in the ten Panzer divisions that led Rundstedt’s army group through the Ardennes. It was no match. The French could not stop the German armor, and by May 20 the Germans had reached the English Channel. France was divided in two. Gamelin was relieved as the army’s commander in chief and replaced by Weygand, and Marshal Pétain, who had been France’s ambassador to Spain, became deputy premier, all to no avail. Belgium surrendered on May 28, and by June 4, the British Expeditionary Force, more than 300,000 men plus 130,000 French soldiers, were evacuated from Dunkirk. France north of the Somme was in German hands. No more than half of Weygand’s divisions remained. On June 10, Mussolini entered the war, and French forces were spread further.

Resistance proved futile. On June 12 Weygand ordered a general retreat; Paris was declared an open city, and the German army moved south quickly. On June 16, General Rommel’s armored division moved 240 kilometers through Brittany without firing a shot. Reynaud stepped down as prime minister on June 16 and was succeeded by Marshal Pétain, who immediately sought an armistice. On June 22, six weeks after the invasion began, the war was over. The armistice was signed in the same railroad car in the same forest clearing near Compiègne where the World War I armistice had been signed.

Under the armistice, which was intended to be a temporary agreement pending a formal peace treaty, Germany occupied much of northern France, the entire west coast, and Paris. Alsace and Lorraine were detached and became provinces in the Third Reich, and Italy was later awarded a small occupation zone in the Alps. (See Figure 2.) The purpose of the occupation was to facilitate Germany’s invasion of Great Britain, which was expected shortly. The costs of the occupation were to be paid by the French. Most important, the French government remained sovereign. It could choose where it wanted to be located, including Paris, but the occupied zone must conform to German authority.II The French army was demobilized and disarmed, and all of its equipment turned over to the Germans. Captured French soldiers remained in German custody, and, like Germany after the Versailles treaty, France was permitted an army of 100,000 men, but without heavy weapons.
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Figure 2: Occupied France



The French navy was treated somewhat better. It was required to collect in French ports, but “the German government solemnly declares to the French government that it does not intend to use the French war fleet which is in harbors under German control for its purposes in war.”4 The armistice was signed for France by General Charles Léon Huntziger, who later commanded the hundred thousand men. Said Huntziger, “France has the right to expect in the future negotiations that Germany will show a spirit which will permit the two great neighboring countries to live and work in peace.”5

    The armistice went into effect on June 25. Marshal Pétain spoke to the nation that day. Instead of acknowledging that France’s defeat was a result of military ineptitude, he suggested that French attitudes dominant in the Third Republic had brought about its downfall. “Our defeat came because of our slackness. The seeking of pleasures destroyed what the spirit of sacrifice had built up. I call upon you first of all for intellectual and moral redress…. A New Order begins.”6

The days of the Third Republic were numbered. Like many Frenchmen at the time, Pétain blamed the secular democracy of the Third Republic for France’s defeat. Or as the Catholic Church put it, France had received “divine retribution” for its godless ways. On July 3, Britain helped fuel the fire when under Churchill’s orders it destroyed much of the French fleet at the Algerian port of Mers-el-Kébir, killing 1,267 French sailors. The tension with Great Britain grew enormously, and Pétain broke off diplomatic relations.
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Pétain, May 1940



When the Chamber of Deputies and the Senate met in the new capital at Vichy on July 9, the French representatives voted 624 to 4 that the constitution should be revised. As the historian Robert Paxton has noted, “The Assembly’s stand of July 9, 1940, was no revolution from above. It reflected almost unanimous French public opinion.”7 The following day, by a vote of 569 to 80, the Assembly installed Pétain with full power to lead the new French State. Pierre Laval became Pétain’s deputy, and the motto of the Third Republic, “Liberté, égalité, fraternité,” was replaced with “Travail, famille, patrie”—“Work, family, fatherland.” The French had voluntarily turned against the secular democracy of the Third Republic. Masculine dominance, anti-Semitism, and the leadership of the Roman Catholic Church became the order of the day. These were French decisions and not of German imposition.

President Roosevelt and the U.S. State Department quickly recognized the Pétain government. The American embassy was moved from Paris to Vichy, and FDR appointed Admiral William Leahy, the former chief of naval operations, to be ambassador. Leahy was an old friend of the president going back to the days when Roosevelt was assistant secretary of the navy in the Woodrow Wilson administration, and FDR believed that he and Pétain would hit it off together.

At the time, most French people believed that Great Britain would soon be defeated. The German army was also on its best behavior. “Keep Paris Paris” was the order of the day. Tourism was encouraged, and the city was soon filled with busloads of uniformed German troops. There was no resistance. It was difficult for the French to believe that the war was not over. Even the underground Communist newspaper L’Humanité urged a peace of reconciliation between French and German workers. Germans felt likewise. “Paris remains one of the jewels of Europe,” Hitler told his generals, and that attitude dominated the early occupation.8 As the Paris magazine L’Illustration wrote in the fall of 1940:


    What struck us at the sight of the military men moving among us was their obvious youth. Under the feldgrau uniform, we could not distinguish social class or profession. But we could sense there were many intellectuals among the young people, university students who would take up their interrupted studies and who would profit from their visit to learn about French culture…. This occasion would help them, to their benefit, to see the real face of France, to be able to get to know its citizens, and to familiarize themselves with our customs and our spirit.9
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Hitler in Paris, 1940



Given the subsequent resistance in Paris, it is difficult to remember that in 1940 not only did peace prevail, but almost everyone in France assumed that Germany would soon be the victor over Great Britain. Paris had opened its gates to the German army, and the army reciprocated. Paris became “Germanized” overnight. The combination of the effortless control and correct behavior exercised by the German army (unlike its later behavior in Eastern Europe) and the armistice that had preserved a portion of French honor made the occupation of Paris embarrassingly simple. As one scholar of the period has written, “Paris had become a suburb of Berlin.”10

To head the occupation, Hitler named sixty-two-year-old General Otto von Stülpnagel, who was then commanding German troops in Austria. Stülpnagel established the German headquarters in the Hotel Majestic, and did his best to ensure friendly relations. “If you want a cow to give milk, it must be fed,” he said in September 1940.11 He emphasized the need to cooperate with French industry, deplored the confiscation of Jewish art collections, and resisted orders from Berlin to execute large numbers of hostages. In February 1942, when ordered by Field Marshal Keitel to execute imprisoned Communists and Jews, he submitted a bitter letter of resignation and retired from active duty.

He was succeeded by his cousin, General Karl Heinrich von Stülpnagel, who had been a combat general on the Russian front and was familiar with execution orders. At the same time, he despised Hitler and the Nazis, and would become a leading member of the military’s July 20, 1944, plot to assassinate the Führer. That afternoon, when told that Colonel Claus von Stauffenberg’s bomb had exploded in the room where Hitler was holding a meeting, he assumed the Führer was dead and ordered the arrest of all Gestapo and SS officers in Paris. The arrests took place, but that evening it became clear that Hitler had survived. The arrested men were released and Stülpnagel was recalled to Berlin. Tried for treason by the People’s Court in Berlin on August 30, he was convicted and hanged that same day at Plötzensee Prison in Berlin. Both Stülpnagels were enthralled by Paris, and had done their best to preserve it unscathed.

The chief German diplomat in Paris was Otto Abetz, who was appointed ambassador to Vichy by Hitler but who chose to reside in Paris. Abetz was thirty-seven at the time, a close friend of Foreign Minister Joachim von Ribbentrop, and like the Stülpnagels, he was eager to keep Franco-German relations cordial. An art teacher before the war, he had helped found the Stolberg Circle, later known as the Franco-German Committee (Comité France-Allemagne), which promoted cultural exchanges. He had been married to a French woman since 1932, admired French culture, and immediately established as an appendix to the embassy a German Institute where Parisians could study German culture and learn the language. Throughout the occupation, the German army and the diplomatic corps did their best to observe the rules of international behavior. Whatever cruelty happened in Paris was the work of the Gestapo and SS, as well as the Vichy regime. Also like the Stülpnagels, Abetz often fought with the Gestapo and the SS. He remained in Paris until the liberation.

Life in Paris returned to normal almost immediately after the occupation began. Movie houses started showing films the following week. On July 31, barely six weeks since German troops entered the city, Sacha Guitry reopened the Théâtre de la Madeleine with his play Pasteur. The play ended with the audience rising to sing La Marseillaise, led by the German administrative head of Paris, General Harald Turner. The Paris Opera resumed on August 24 with Berlioz’s La Damnation de Faust, followed by Massenet’s Thaïs and Beethoven’s Fidelio. The Comédie-Française started performances on September 7 with a program designed by Vichy proclaiming hope for France because it was amending its errors of the past. On September 29, Field Marshal von Rundstedt attended the reopening of the Louvre.III At the Orangerie, on the Place de la Concorde, where Monet’s Nymphéas paintings hung, a retrospective of Monet and Rodin brought huge crowds.12

Perhaps the only downside in Paris was the treatment of Jews and Freemasons on orders that came directly from the Vichy government. Freemasons, whom most French clerics considered henchmen of the devil, but who were in many respects the backbone of the Third Republic, were hit on August 13, 1940, when Vichy dismantled their lodges and banned all members from public functions. Then, on October 3, Vichy promulgated a Statute on Jews—the first anti-Semitic measure of the Pétain regime. Under the act, Jews were excluded from the civil service, the judiciary, the armed forces, the press, and the teaching profession. Anti-Semitism was not new to France, but it became one of the hallmarks of the Vichy regime. The Statute on Jews illustrated the Vichy government’s willingness to act on its own authority without German pressure and was an ominous sign for the future.13

At the time, Charles de Gaulle was unknown by most Parisians. A colonel on active duty when the war began, he did well in combat, was promoted to brigadier general, and when Reynaud became prime minister was made undersecretary of the Ministry of National Defense. De Gaulle had written extensively on armored warfare, had become a friend of Reynaud during the prewar period, and his appointment gave Reynaud a vantage point from which to influence the military. Neither Pétain nor Weygand was pleased with the appointment. “He’s an infant,” Weygand told Reynaud. “He is more a journalist than an officer.” Pétain’s judgment was harsher. “He’s an arrogant man, an ingrate, and surly,” said the marshal. “He has few friends in the Army… for he gives the impression he is looking down on everybody.”14 When defeat came, de Gaulle flew to London with British general Edward Spears, met with Churchill, and on June 18 delivered a stirring address over BBC to the French population. “Whatever happens, the flame of French resistance must not and shall not die.”15 Very few in France heard de Gaulle speak. The fact that he was speaking from London did not help. The BBC did not record it, and de Gaulle remained in the wilderness as far as the citizens of Paris were concerned.
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Pétain and Hitler



French cooperation with Germany continued. In late October first Laval, then Pétain, met with Hitler at Montoire in southern France as the Führer went to visit Generalissimo Francisco Franco in Spain. Speaking afterward at the Matignon Palace in Paris, under a French flag, Laval said, “In all domains, and especially in the economic and colonial spheres, we have discussed and we will continue to examine in what practical form our collaboration can serve the interests of France, Germany, and Europe.”

Pétain famously said, “I enter into the way of collaboration. In the near future, the weight of suffering of our country could be lightened, the fate of our prisoners ameliorated, occupation costs reduced, the demarcation line made more flexible, and the administration and supply of our territory easier.”16

Parisians adjusted surprisingly well to the occupation. Many became active collaborators. The Germans were in charge, and everyday Parisians made the best of it. As the writer Alan Riding has pointed out, “For some cabaret managers, it was as if la belle époque were back.”17 To the surprise of many, Hitler announced that the ashes of Napoléon I’s son, the Duc de Reichstadt, would be returned from Vienna and buried at Les Invalides on December 15, 1940, the hundredth anniversary of Napoléon’s burial there.

Change came slowly. Rationing was introduced in Paris in the autumn of 1940, and gasoline was in short supply. By the spring of 1941 it looked as if the war was going to last considerably longer than most Parisians had anticipated. Under Churchill’s leadership the British were still fighting. Hitler had canceled the invasion of Great Britain, and the lengthy German air attacks on that country had proved fruitless. Germany had not gained air superiority. Then on June 22, 1941, the situation changed dramatically. Without prior warning, the German army invaded the Soviet Union. In Paris, French Communists changed sides overnight, becoming enemies of the occupation. In many respects, the resistance to Hitler by a significant number of Parisians dates to this event.

Parisians became even more uncomfortable in December 1941, when the Japanese attacked Pearl Harbor. Germany and Italy declared war on the United States immediately afterward, and the United States responded by declaring war on December 11. In November 1942, American troops landed in the French colonies of Morocco and Algeria in North Africa. The German government responded by occupying all of France. The situation changed further on January 30, 1943, when the German Sixth Army under Field Marshal Friedrich von Paulus surrendered at Stalingrad. The Germans lost more than 200,000 men. For Parisians it looked as though the tide had turned. That seemed to be confirmed, on May 13, 1943, when Anglo-American forces accepted the German surrender in North Africa, where Germany lost another 290,000 men. The Wehrmacht now looked vulnerable.

When Hitler moved into Vichy territory in December 1942 following the Allied invasion of North Africa, he chose to retain the Pétain regime. “French sovereignty will be maintained,” said Hitler, “but only in so far as it serves our interests.”18 By continuing to maintain the French State, Germany would be able to obtain whatever it wanted, and use the state apparatus as it wished. Hitler also told Pétain that he wanted Laval to remain as the head of government.19 Under Hitler’s orders the 100,000-man French army was disarmed and demobilized. Laval responded in January 1943 by establishing the French Militia (la Milice), a police force of volunteers whose task it would be to maintain order.

In Paris life went on, but the occupation was now becoming onerous. The most despicable aspect of it was the treatment of the Jews, which was getting worse. When the war began in 1939, there were about 300,000 Jews living in France, with roughly 60 percent in Paris. Since 1791, when the National Assembly had granted Jews full civil rights, Paris had been a “new Jerusalem,” and many European Jews sought refuge there. In 1936, France chose a Jew, Léon Blum, to be prime minister, the first European state ever to do so. But on May 14, 1941, the Paris police conducted their first roundup of Jews, sending almost four thousand to internment camps.20 Roundups continued throughout 1941 and 1942, and by the end of 1942, almost forty thousand Jews had been deported.

The Germans joined the persecution, commanded by SS Standartenführer Helmut Knochen, and on May 29, 1942, issued an order requiring Jewish citizens above the age of six to wear a yellow Star of David. A few weeks later Jews were excluded from public places (cafés, theaters, libraries, swimming pools, and parks) and prohibited from shopping until the afternoon, when there was hardly anything left in the food stores. The standartenführer SS and Gestapo looted Jewish property, taking artwork and furnishings from apartments formerly occupied by Parisian Jews. When the occupation ended, eighty thousand Jews had been sent to concentration camps, and of those twenty-four thousand were of French nationality, the other fifty-six thousand being more recent arrivals. Only 3 percent returned alive. Bad as that may seem, it was considerably better than what happened in Belgium and Holland. And it was better because of the help provided by many French, to shield their Jewish neighbors.21

Daily life in Paris became more difficult for everyone, unless you had money or were a collaborationist. The Germans had turned Paris into a place of recreation for soldiers on leave. German officers felt at home in the Tour d’Argent and other gastronomic temples, all of which provided special menus in German. French companions were plentiful, but they were mostly collaborationists, cultural icons, or the upper crust of French society. After the war, and looking back at the occupation, Jean-Paul Sartre wrote, “I wonder if I shall be understood if I say that it [the occupation] was both intolerable and at the same time we put up with it very well.”22

Cultural life in Paris continued undisturbed. Classical German music led the way. Parisians had always been fond of German music, and compositions by Bach, Handel, Mozart, Beethoven, and Wagner continued to be constantly performed, often by German orchestras, including the Berlin Philharmonic. The young conductor Herbert von Karajan, of the Berlin Staatsoper (State Opera), became a favorite of Parisians and led the Staatsoper in numerous concerts in Paris.23

French filmmaking also prospered. Between June 1940 and the liberation in August 1944, the film industry produced a record 220 films. German censorship, aside from banning British and American films, was minimal, and the Germans encouraged French filmmakers to produce quality entertainment. By 1943, movie attendance in Paris was 40 percent higher than in 1938—the last year before the war—and Parisians flocked to the cinema to escape the drudgery of everyday life.24

For French writers, the occupation also provided a unique opportunity. Many became ardent collaborationists; others went underground. The written word, unlike the theater or music, is in black-and-white, and the author can be judged accordingly. It would be fair to say that for the first two years of the occupation, French writers generally cooperated with the occupiers. But when it became clear that the Germans were losing, writers became more critical. German policy was set by Goebbels and his propaganda ministry, and most of the effort was directed at silencing Jewish writers or anti-German books.

Social relations between Germans and Parisians were encouraged. German soldiers and French women hit it off amazingly well. By mid-1943, more than eighty thousand French women claimed benefits for their offspring from the German authorities. Those women who had affairs with Germans spanned the social ladder, and many Parisians of high social standing took up with German suitors. The famous actress Arletty and the designer Coco Chanel lived with German officers at the Ritz. “My heart is French but my ass is international,” said Arletty after the war.25

But the tide was turning in 1943. American and British troops captured Sicily in July, and in the east the Soviet army was advancing. In Paris, sympathy for the occupation was diminishing rapidly. And the support for Pétain and the Vichy regime was eroding even faster. For Parisians, the high points of the occupation were the years 1940 and 1941, when German victory in Europe seemed inevitable. But as the military situation changed, so too did French attitudes toward the occupation.

Unlike London or Berlin, Paris had not been bombed, and the city remained intact. That was a blessing, but the Germans were exploiting the French economy, and the costs were hitting home. French agricultural products had been taken increasingly to feed Germany, and the German war machine was fueled by French industry. By 1943, well over half of French agricultural production was going to German cities. This created serious shortages in Paris, where almost all food was rationed. In addition, almost a million young Frenchmen had been sent to Germany to work in industry, and the war prisoners still held by the Germans added to the total.

The occupation had come full circle. What began in 1940 as an acceptance and even celebration of German victory had by the beginning of 1944 become a desperate undertaking. Collaborationists were beginning to look for cover, and the Resistance, which was negligible in 1940, was becoming a factor to be reckoned with. As Yves Bouthillier, who served as Pétain’s finance minister, wrote, “Public opinion, initially so favorable, even enthusiastic, became doubtful, suspicious, distrustful, and eventually, little by little, hostile. The divorce began slowly around the middle of 1941, at first it was imperceptible, a hair-line crack, but from 1942 onwards it became even wider and more obvious.”26 When 1944 began, most Parisians realized that Germany was losing the war, and that set off a tide of reaction.

    I. According to General Günther Blumentritt, chief of operations for Army Group A, the move through the Ardennes “was not really an operation but an approach march…. We met only slight resistance in Belgian Luxembourg…. It was weak opposition and easily brushed aside.” B. H. Liddell Hart, The German Generals Talk (New York: William Morrow, 1948), 106.

II. According to Article III, “The French Government is permitted to select the seat of its government in unoccupied territory, or, if it wishes, in Paris. In this case, the German government guarantees the French Government and its central authorities every necessary alleviation so that they will be in a position to conduct the administration of unoccupied territories from Paris.” Armistice Agreement, June 22, 1940, U.S. Department of State, Documents on German Foreign Policy, 1918–1945 (Washington, DC: Government Printing Office, 1956), 671–676.

III. On July 19, 1940, Army Group commanders Rundstedt, Bock, and Leeb were promoted by Hitler to the rank of field marshal. Wilhelm von Leeb had commanded Army Group C during the invasion.
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“Paris must be liberated by French troops.”

—DE GAULLE TO EISENHOWER, DECEMBER 30, 1943

An even more dramatic change in Paris by 1944 reflected the growing enthusiasm for the leadership of Charles de Gaulle. At the beginning of the German blitzkrieg on May 10, 1940, de Gaulle was a colonel commanding a tank regiment in Alsace. Less than two weeks later he was promoted to brigadier general on the battlefield, and on June 6 was appointed by Prime Minister Paul Reynaud to be undersecretary of state for national defense in the French cabinet. He and Reynaud were old acquaintances, and the prime minister believed de Gaulle would provide valuable support in the cabinet. Ten days later, as military defeat became evident, de Gaulle was instructed by Reynaud to go to London and request Churchill’s assistance to help move the French government to North Africa, from which the war could continue.

De Gaulle arrived in London on the morning of Sunday, June 16. Meeting with French ambassador Charles Corbin and Jean Monnet, a prominent French businessman, before seeing Churchill, he was told of a plan they had been working on with the British Foreign Office to unite France and Great Britain into one country—a “Declaration of Union.” There would be a common constitution, one government, common citizenship, and a complete linking of their respective destinies. Churchill was aware of the plan, but he had not yet discussed it with the British cabinet. Would de Gaulle press him to do so? they asked.

De Gaulle was enthusiastic about the plan. He recognized that it could not be brought into effect overnight, but thought it would give Reynaud valuable support to continue the war. He agreed to raise the matter with Churchill when they met for lunch later that day. When de Gaulle restated the proposal, Churchill said that Lord Halifax, the British foreign minister, had told him of the plan. “But it is an enormous mouthful.”1 De Gaulle agreed, but said to announce it would greatly benefit the Reynaud government and help keep France in the war. Churchill understood and said he would present it to his cabinet that afternoon. De Gaulle accompanied him to 10 Downing Street, where he waited in an office adjoining the Cabinet Room.

While the cabinet meeting was going on, de Gaulle phoned Reynaud to tell him what was happening. Reynaud said he thought it was “the only possible solution for the future, but it must be done very quickly, above all quickly.”2 The British cabinet meeting lasted almost two hours, during which various ministers came out to ask de Gaulle to clarify something. Then a beaming Churchill led the cabinet into the room where de Gaulle was waiting. “We are agreed,” said the prime minister. De Gaulle immediately called Reynaud with the news. Churchill then took the phone and told Reynaud, “De Gaulle is right…. You must hold out…. We will see you tomorrow! At Concarneau.”3 Reynaud was overwhelmed by the British offer and said he would present it to his cabinet, which was to meet shortly.

It was at that meeting of the French cabinet late on June 16 that Reynaud lost his support. When he presented the proposal for an Anglo-French Union, the cabinet response was overwhelmingly negative. “A marriage with a corpse,” said Marshal Pétain. “Better to be a Nazi province,” said another. “At least we know what that means.”4 Only Georges Mandel, the minister of the interior, spoke in favor. Instead of supporting Reynaud’s proposal for union with Britain, the cabinet went on to endorse a suggestion made by Camille Chautemps, a former prime minister, that Hitler should be asked for surrender terms and that they should be considered. At that point Reynaud adjourned the meeting, and then submitted his resignation to President Albert Lebrun.

The Reynaud government was finished. De Gaulle, en route back from London in a plane provided by Churchill, was told when he landed of Reynaud’s defeat. The news that President Lebrun had appointed Pétain to be prime minister came shortly afterward. De Gaulle was stunned. He was no longer in the government, and Pétain as prime minister meant that French surrender was imminent.

De Gaulle went to see Reynaud immediately. “I found him with no illusions about what the consequences would be of the Marshal’s taking power,” said de Gaulle.5 Reynaud said he intended to remain in France, although no longer in office. De Gaulle said he would return to England the next morning and continue the fight. “I didn’t want to stay in Bordeaux with Pétain and Weygand.”6 Reynaud encouraged de Gaulle and gave him a hundred thousand francs from secret funds to which he still had access. De Gaulle then asked Reynaud’s aide to have diplomatic passports sent to his wife and children so they could join him. Jean Laurent, who was on Reynaud’s staff, gave de Gaulle the keys to an apartment he had in London and told him he could stay there as long as he wished. Shortly after nine the next morning, de Gaulle took off for England on the same plane that had brought him to France the night before. He had no government position and no idea of what might lie ahead, but he did not believe the war was over.

“I was starting from scratch,” said de Gaulle. “But this very destitution showed me my line of conduct. It was by adopting without compromise the cause of national recovery that I could acquire authority…. It was by acting as the inflexible champion of the nation and of the state that it would be possible for me to gather the consent, even the enthusiasm, of the French and to win from foreigners respect and consideration…. In short, limited and alone though I was, and precisely because I was so, I had to climb to the heights and then never to come down.”7

De Gaulle began his ascent immediately. His speech to the French nation over BBC the next evening is generally regarded as one of his greatest. “This war is not over as a result of the Battle of France,” he said. “This war is a worldwide war…. I, General de Gaulle, currently in London, invite the officers and the French soldiers who are located in British territory or who might end up here… to put themselves in contact with me…. The flame of French resistance must not and shall not die.”8


[image: images]
De Gaulle in London, June 1940



The following day de Gaulle spoke again. “Soldiers of France, wherever you are, rise up.”9 His speech was so strong that the British Foreign Office intervened. The Pétain government had not yet signed the armistice, and the British did not want to provoke them needlessly. Not until the armistice was concluded and its terms revealed was de Gaulle given the go-ahead. It was during this period that both de Gaulle and Churchill hoped to recruit leading French personalities to join the resistance cause, but none came forward. Even those in London who wanted to go on fighting were not interested in attaching themselves to a crusade led by an obscure general. Finally, on June 27, Churchill bit the bullet. “You are alone,” he told de Gaulle. “I shall recognize you alone.”10 The following day, official recognition followed. “His Majesty’s government recognizes General de Gaulle as the leader of all Free Frenchmen, wherever they may be, who rally to him in support of the Allied cause.”11

Six weeks later, on August 7, de Gaulle and Churchill signed a formal agreement in which the British agreed to supply and equip the Free French, and in return de Gaulle would follow the general orders of the British High Command, while retaining “supreme command” of his forces. The agreement “had a considerable importance for Free France,” said de Gaulle, “not only because it got us out of immediate material difficulties, but also because the British authorities… no longer hesitated to make things easier for us.”12

At the same time as de Gaulle was being formally recognized by His Majesty’s government as the supreme commander of the Free French, he was being tried for treason in absentia by court-martial in Vichy. The charges were brought at the insistence of General Weygand, who believed de Gaulle was a traitor. The trial was held in secret, and de Gaulle was found guilty on five of six counts. He was stripped of rank in the French army and sentenced to death, and his property was confiscated. De Gaulle does not refer to the trial in his memoirs, and for practical purposes the conviction was meaningless.


[image: images]
Churchill and de Gaulle, 1940



The British increased their support for de Gaulle quickly. Free French headquarters moved to spacious accommodations on Carlton Gardens overlooking St. James’s Park—the former home of Prime Minister Lord Palmerston—and de Gaulle reached out to French forces throughout the world for support. Once again, the answers were negative. French military commanders in North Africa and the Middle East saw de Gaulle as a tool of the British and preferred to remain loyal to Vichy. The first exceptions were in the Pacific, where the New Hebrides, New Caledonia, and Tahiti came on board. Then, Equatorial and Central Africa followed in late August, the Cameroons, Chad, and the French Congo rallied to de Gaulle, and shortly afterward, Gabon did the same.

This gave de Gaulle a base outside England, and he set up plans to take Dakar, the capital of Senegal and a major French military base on the Atlantic. With de Gaulle on board, a British-French naval force, including a carrier and two battleships, arrived off Dakar on September 23. When de Gaulle addressed the city by radio declaring his “friendly intentions,” Vichy forces fired back. The fighting continued for another day, but it was clear that the forces in Dakar were not going to accept de Gaulle. That evening, the Anglo-French naval force withdrew. One battleship had been badly damaged, and a destroyer and two submarines had been sunk. For de Gaulle, the failure of the mission was a terrible blow to his prestige. “The days which followed were cruel to me,” he said; “however, it very soon became clear to me that in spite of the reverse, the Free French remained unshakable. Among the men of our expedition… not one wished to leave me. On the contrary, all of them had been hardened by the hostile attitude of Vichy.”13

In London, Churchill defended the operation in the House of Commons. “All that has happened has only strengthened His Majesty’s Government in the confidence it extended to General de Gaulle.”14 Nevertheless, many British leaders became skeptical. Lord Halifax, who was still foreign minister, believed Vichy should not be written off. And in the United States, the defeat at Dakar intensified FDR’s hostility to de Gaulle. Roosevelt believed the future of France lay with Pétain and Vichy, and in this belief he was strongly supported by Secretary of State Cordell Hull and the State Department. As Undersecretary of State Sumner Welles put it: “De Gaulle’s authority is based upon a small group of followers who sometimes fight each other, and on some overseas territories…. Eighty-five percent of the French living in the United States are not for de Gaulle.”15 The initial role of the French in the United States in support of Vichy was important in shaping FDR’s view. Alexis Léger, former French ambassador to the United States and then secretary general in the French Foreign Office, had retired and come to the United States just before the armistice. He was held in high esteem by Roosevelt and the State Department, and from the beginning was highly critical of General de Gaulle and the Free French movement. These views he shared repeatedly with the U.S. government, and they had an effect.16

De Gaulle spent the next six weeks in Equatorial Africa. He received a tumultuous welcome in Douala, the capital of the Cameroons, and on October 27 at Brazzaville in the Congo, he announced the creation of a Committee of Imperial Defence to direct French forces in the war. The British had not been consulted beforehand, and the Committee of Imperial Defence was de Gaulle’s first step toward acquiring the status of head of a provisional government. The British Foreign Office was not pleased, but Churchill stood by him. De Gaulle had to be assertive, said the prime minister, “to prove to French eyes that he was not a British puppet.”I

De Gaulle returned to England in mid-November. He continued to have warm personal relations with Churchill, often spending the weekend at Chequers, Churchill’s country estate. On January 15 he signed an agreement with Anthony Eden, minister of war, defining the status of the Free French on British territory. With British help he also established a bank, the Caisse Centrale de la France Libre, to handle financial affairs for the Free French movement, further solidifying his base.

As summer approached, de Gaulle advanced a proposal to retake the French territories of Syria and Lebanon from Vichy. The outbreak of an anti-British revolt in Iraq, which was a British protectorate, suggested that Germany might take over Syria as a base for helping the Iraqi rebels, and Churchill quickly saw the benefits of de Gaulle’s suggestion. The prime minister pressed both the Foreign Office and the military to take action. They were reluctant, but complied. Churchill ordered General Archibald Wavell, the area commander, to supply support for the Free French and cabled de Gaulle of his decision. De Gaulle was amazed that Churchill was acting so quickly. For the first and only time, he wrote his reply to Churchill in English:


1) Thank you.

2) [General] Castroux will remain in Palestine.

3) I shall go to Cairo soon.

4) You will win the war.17



On June 8, 1941, Anglo-French forces, comprised of mostly Free French troops, attacked Syria. As at Dakar, the Vichy forces fought back, but this time the Free French held on, and after four weeks the garrison surrendered. But instead of surrendering to the Free French, the Vichy commander signed an armistice with the British commander, General Maitland Wilson. The Free French were not mentioned. De Gaulle was furious. When he threatened to withdraw his troops from British command, the armistice was amended.

But friction with the British continued. In Brazzaville on August 27, de Gaulle gave an interview to George Weller of the Chicago Daily News in which he said England “is carrying on a wartime deal with Hitler in which Vichy serves as a go-between.”18 When the interview was published, Churchill hit the roof. “If de Gaulle’s interview with the American press at Brazzaville is authentic,” he wrote Anthony Eden, who had succeeded Halifax as foreign minister, “he has clearly gone off his head. This would be a very good riddance and will simplify our further course.”19 Eden, who was one of de Gaulle’s major supporters in the government, pointed out the general’s importance as a rallying point in France against Vichy, and told Churchill that “if he shows indications of repentance, I hope you will not underestimate your power to complete the cure.”20

When de Gaulle returned to London at the beginning of September, he was held at arm’s length by British officials. After two weeks, Churchill agreed to see him. The meeting began in a frosty tone but quickly became businesslike. The situation in the Middle East was discussed, and Churchill assured de Gaulle that the British had no interest in occupying Syria and that the Free French were in charge. The alliance was back in place. Churchill suggested that de Gaulle establish a formal council to lead the Free French politically, and de Gaulle agreed. The two men ended the meeting with much of their previous warmth restored. Churchill greatly respected de Gaulle’s determination to liberate France, and de Gaulle understood that Churchill was one of the few who understood his sense of mission and could help him deliver on it.21


OEBPS/e9781501164941/images/f0002-01.jpg





OEBPS/e9781501164941/fonts/EBGaramond-BoldItalic.ttf


OEBPS/e9781501164941/fonts/EBGaramond-Regular.ttf


OEBPS/e9781501164941/images/f0009-01.jpg





OEBPS/e9781501164941/fonts/EBGaramond-Bold.ttf


OEBPS/e9781501164941/images/f0026-01.jpg





OEBPS/e9781501164941/xhtml/nav.xhtml


Contents



		Cover


		Title Page


		Dedication


		I. Paris Occupied


		II. De Gaulle and the Resistance


		III. The Allies Advance


		IV. The German Defense


		V. The Resistance Rises


		VI. Eisenhower Changes Plans


		VII. Leclerc Moves Out


		VIII. A Field of Ruins


		IX. Day of Liberation


		X. De Gaulle Triumphant


		Acknowledgments


		About the Author


		Notes


		Bibliography


		Index


		Copyright







Guide



		Cover


		Start of Content








		IV


		V


		VII


		X


		XI


		XII


		1


		2


		3


		4


		5


		6


		7


		8


		9


		10


		11


		12


		13


		14


		15


		16


		17


		18


		19


		20


		21


		22


		23


		24


		25


		26


		27


		28


		29


		30


		31


		32


		33


		34


		35


		36


		37


		38


		39


		40


		41


		42


		43


		44


		45


		46


		47


		48


		49


		50


		51


		52


		53


		54


		55


		56


		57


		58


		59


		60


		61


		62


		63


		64


		65


		66


		67


		68


		69


		70


		71


		72


		73


		74


		75


		76


		77


		78


		79


		80


		81


		82


		83


		84


		85


		86


		87


		88


		89


		90


		91


		92


		93


		94


		95


		96


		97


		98


		99


		100


		101


		102


		103


		104


		105


		106


		107


		108


		109


		110


		111


		112


		113


		114


		115


		116


		117


		118


		119


		120


		121


		122


		123


		124


		125


		126


		127


		128


		129


		130


		131


		132


		133


		134


		135


		136


		137


		138


		139


		140


		141


		142


		143


		144


		145


		146


		147


		148


		149


		150


		151


		152


		153


		154


		155


		156


		157


		158


		159


		160


		161


		162


		163


		164


		165


		166


		167


		168


		169


		170


		171


		172


		173


		174


		175


		176


		177


		178


		179


		180


		181


		182


		183


		184


		185


		186


		187


		188


		189


		190


		191


		192


		193


		194


		195


		196


		197


		198


		199


		200


		201


		202


		203


		204


		205


		206


		207


		208


		209


		210


		211


		212


		213


		214


		215


		216


		217


		218


		219


		220


		221


		222


		223


		224


		225


		226


		227


		228


		229


		230


		231


		232


		233


		234


		235


		236


		237


		238


		239


		240


		241


		242


		243


		244








OEBPS/e9781501164941/images/f0028-01.jpg





OEBPS/e9781501164941/images/f0007-01.jpg
Alsace and
Lorrain€
(annexed to

G’ermany)

GERMAN ZONE OF
OCCUPATION

S PAIN (] 50 100 Miles

(S —
O 50 100 Kilometers






OEBPS/e9781501164941/images/f0005-01.jpg
l ENGLAND

Allied Divisions
A Belgian
% British
Il French
Allied Lines
——— Fortified Lines

= = Lesser Fortifications 20 40 Miles

40 Kilometers





OEBPS/e9781501164941/images/common01.jpg





OEBPS/e9781501164941/images/f0015-01.jpg





OEBPS/e9781501164941/images/9781501164941.jpg





OEBPS/e9781501164941/images/title.jpg
THE

LIBERATION

OF

PARIS

How Eisenhower, de Gaulle,
and von Choltitz Saved

the City of Light

JEAN EDWARD SMITH

Simon & Schuster
NEW YORK - LONDON - TORONTO - SYDNEY - NEW DELHI





OEBPS/e9781501164941/images/f0011-01.jpg





OEBPS/e9781501164941/fonts/EBGaramond-Italic.ttf


